## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

#### CASEY ALAN JOHNS

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Apr 04 2022 05:02 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

### STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

### CASE NO. 83064

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction After Jury Verdict in Case CR20-10DC-0552 Tenth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, Churchill County Honorable Thomas L. Stockard, District Judge

## **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

VICTORIA T. OLDENBURG, ESQ. OLDENBURG LAW OFFICE P.O. Box 17422 Reno, NV 89511 Tel. (775) 971-4245

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a Judgment of Conviction pursuant to a jury verdict. 8 Appellant's Appendix (AA) 5 at 780. A Notice of Appeal was filed on June 11, 2021. 5 AA 784. This Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 4(b)(1)(A).

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case is not presumptively assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(2) as it is a direct appeal of a jury verdict that involves the conviction of a category A felony.

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- A. WAS THERE SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT APPELLANT'S CONVICTION OF COUNT 1 OF THE AMENDED INFORMATION – BURGLARY WITH POSSESSION OF A DEADLY WEAPON?
- B. WAS THERE SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT APPELLANT'S CONVICTION OF COUNT 3 OF THE AMENDED INFORMATION – BATTERY UPON A POLICE OFFICER?
- C. DID THE DISTRICT COURT IMPOSE AN UNDULY AND UNFAIRLY EXCESSIVE SENTENCE IN VIOLATION OF APPELLANT'S EIGHTH AMENDMENT RIGHT UNDER THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND UNDER ARTICLE 1, SECTION 6 OF THE NEVADA CONSTITUTION WHICH PROHIBITS THE IMPOSITION OF CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT?

///

///

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On May 27, 2020, the State filed a five count Information against Appellant. 1 AA 001. The State charged Appellant with: Count 1 - Burglary with Possession of a Firearm or Deadly Weapon; Count 2 - Battery With a Deadly Weapon Causing Substantial Bodily Harm to Victim; Count 3 - Battery By a Prisoner in Lawful Custody or Confinement; Count 4 – Home Invasion With Possession of Firearm or Deadly Weapon, and; Count 5 – Obtaining or Possessing Credit Card or Debit Card, or Identifying Description of Credit Card, Credit Account or Debit Card Without Consent. 1 AA 001. On June 20, 2020, at an in-person court hearing, Appellant was arraigned and plead not guilty on all counts. *Id.* On May 5, 2021, the State filed a First Amended Information setting forth the same charges as in the original Information. 1 AA 108.

After a four-day jury trial, Appellant was found guilty on all counts. 5 AA 750-754. The district court sentenced Appellant to a term of 24 to 60 months on Count 1; a term of 72 to 180 months on Count 2, consecutive to Count 1; a term of 12 to 32 months on Count 3, consecutive to Count 1 and 2; a term of 32 to 96 months on Count 4, consecutive to Count 1, 2 and 3, and; a term of 12 to 32 months on Count 5, consecutive to Counts 1, 2, 3 and 4. 5 AA 780. Appellant's aggregate sentence is 152 to 400 months (12 years 8 months to 33 years 4 months). In addition, the district court ordered Counts 1 through 5 to run consecutive to the sentence imposed in

District Court Case No. 20-10DC-0186 (according to the Nevada Department of Corrections, Appellant was sentenced to 21 to 56 months for Attempted Burglary).<sup>1</sup> *Id.* Therefore, Appellant is serving an aggregate sentence of 173 to 456 months (14 years 5 months to 38 years). On June 11, 2020, Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal. 5 AA 784.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### A. First Amended Information

In Count 1 of the Amended Information, Appellant was charged with Burglary With Possession of a Firearm or Deadly Weapon. Specifically, the State alleged Appellant entered the Budget Inn, 60 South Allen Road, Fallon, Nevada, Room #135, with a knife with the intent to commit a battery. 1 AA 108, 109:1-13. In Count 2, Appellant was charged with Battery With a Deadly Weapon Causing Substantial Bodily Harm to Victim. Specifically, the State alleged the Appellant cut Michael Malone in the hand with a knife causing prolonged physical pain and/or causing impairment of the function of Michael Malone's hand. *Id.* at 109:16-24. In Count 3, Appellant was charged with Battery by a Prisoner in Lawful Custody or Confinement. Specifically, the State alleged that Appellant, after being placed under arrest and while in lawful custody, kicked Officer Kevin Grimes in the leg. *Id.* at 110:1-8. In Count 4, Appellant was charged with Home Invasion with Possession

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See <u>NDOC Inmate Search (nv.gov)</u>, Casey Allan Johns, Inmate No. 1098321.

of A Firearm or Deadly Weapon. Specifically, the State alleged Appellant forcefully entered Room 132 with a knife, causing damage to the entry door and/or doorframe. *Id.* at 110:10-18. In Count 5, Appellant was charged with Obtaining or Possessing Credit Card or Debit Card, or Identifying Description of Credit Card, Credit Account or Debit Card Without Consent. Specifically, the State alleged Appellant obtained credit cards belonging to Brandie West-Castillo without her consent. *Id.* at 110:20-28, 111:1-3.

## **B.** Trial Testimony<sup>2</sup>

## 1. Testimony of Ms. Gower

Ms. Gower rented Budget Inn Room 132 and testified she was not in her room on April 16, 2020 around 1:00 p.m. 2 AA 265, 23:24. When she returned from work that day, late afternoon, she noticed damage to the door, that it had been broken in, something happened to the door and that there were blood stains on the cement up to her door. She stated that nothing in her room had been touched, the room was not disturbed or damaged, and that nothing was nothing missing. 2 AA 268-266. She did not see any blood in her room. 2 AA 269.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The trial testimony presented in the Statement of Facts is that which Appellant counsel believes is relevant to the issues on appeal.

## 2. Testimony of Deanne Douglas<sup>3</sup>

Ms. Deanne Douglas had been living for several months in Room 135 at the Budget Inn. 2 AA 274. On April 16, 2020 she was with Michael Malone in her room which was located at the end of the building closest to a field, on the first floor of the building. At around 1:00 p.m. Mr. Malone was helping her load her things in his truck. 2 AA 274-275. She was in the bathroom and heard a slam. 2 AA 276, 2 AA 289. She came out and noticed Appellant walking outside near the window. 2 AA 289, 296. She went over to the table, which is located where you enter the room, and, by the time Appellant got to the entrance of the room she had already gotten her backpack, which was on a chair under the window, and removed her knife and held it by her side. 2 AA 278, 280, 290, 293, 296. The door was wide open. 2 AA 288-289. It appeared from Ms. Douglas' testimony that the first time Appellant came to the room he did not enter the room but was standing at the entrance of the door asking for his girlfriend (Corey). 2 AA 288, 291. She testified Appellant was acting erratic, jumping up and down, and moving back and forth as if he were looking for something. 2 AA 278. She introduced herself and told him to leave. 2 AA 278-279, 289. Appellant continued to ask for his girlfriend, telling them to let his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ms. Douglas' testimony was difficult to decipher in certain areas as to the sequence of events. Counsel's presentation of the testimony is a good faith effort to accurately depict such events.

girlfriend out, looked inside the room, ducked to look under the bed, and was also looking towards the bathroom. 2 AA 278, 296.

Ms. Douglas testified Appellant "stepped out twice." 2 AA 299. The first time he was standing at the entrance of the room and left and came back. 2 AA 291. She testified he stepped out before Mr. Malone was cut and went outside, and that is when Appellant got the weapon and then came back in. 2 AA 299. She testified that when he was in the room his feet were fully on the wood floor, maybe 2 feet into the room. 2 AA 295.

Appellant did not immediately lunge at Mr. Malone. 2 AA 290. Mr. Malone was standing at the end of the bed, which was about 3 to 4 feet from the door. 2 AA 288. Mr. Malone moved and stood in between Appellant and Ms. Douglas, facing Appellant with his hands and palms up as Appellant stood in the doorway. 2 AA 279, 280. Appellant was again saying he was looking for Corey; Ms. Douglas and Mr. Malone were talking to him, for several minutes, trying to get him to leave. 2 AA 292, 293. Thereafter, Mr. Malone looked back and his hand was cut by Appellant, causing him to bleed profusely. 2 AA 281. Ms. Douglas retrieved towels to wrap around his hand. 2 AA 281. She stated Appellant said she better call 911 as Mr. Malone was probably going to bleed out. 2 AA 282. She testified Appellant stepped back far enough to where she let go of Mr. Malone and kicked the door shut; She stated Appellant was not quite out the door but her kick on the door was enough

to shut it and shove him out; she then locked the door and called 911.<sup>4</sup> 2 AA 282. She stated that after Mr. Malone was cut Appellant said he would slice her throat if she did not let his girlfriend come out or let him see her. 2 AA 284-285, 297. She testified that Appellant went out front and when, several minutes later, the police arrived Appellant was still in the front, packing back and forth, like he was waiting for the police. 2 AA 284.

#### *3. Testimony of Mike Malone*

Mr. Malone testified he was at Ms. Douglas' room on April 16, 2020 at around 1:00 p.m. to help her take some of her belongings to storage and then take her on a trip to Winnemucca for a couple of days. 2 AA 305, 308. He testified he had backed his truck towards her room, was loading things into the truck and the door to the room was open. 2 AA 308, 309. When he first saw Appellant he was standing near the door, looked out, and saw him coming through the field towards the Budget Inn agitated and yelling someone's name. 2 A 309-210, 337-339. Mr. Malone testified that when he heard Appellant's voice he walked to the door, and as Appellant got closer he put his hands up and said, "not here, dude." 2 AA 311, 346. As Appellant walked by Room 135 he put his head to the side kind of like looking into the room, and proceeded to walk away towards the other rooms, to the right. 2 AA 311. Mr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In her police statement Ms. Douglas stated she called 911 and then Mr. Jones then walked back outside. 2 AA 299.

Malone then heard some banging, and, while in the room, saw Appellant walk past the window. 2 AA 312, 339. Mr. Malone went to grab the door, which was open, and tried to shut it but was not able to as Appellant put his foot over the threshold so he could not shut the door; Appellant was described at agitated and fixated on Ms. Douglas as she was yelling at Appellant to get out of the room and that she was not Corey. 2 AA 312-313-316. Mr. Malone stated it appeared like Appellant was looking for someone and continued to look agitated. 2 AA 313, 340. At first Appellant had one foot, approximately two and a half feet, on the flooring inside the room and the other foot was still on the outside of the door. 2 AA 13-314. 340. Appellant then took his other foot and stepped into the room. Id. At that time Mr. Malone was still at the door but then got in front of him and put his hands up, shoulder level, palms facing Appellant, letting him know this is the barrier and so that he would not come any further, still thinking the situation would diffuse itself. 2 AA 314-315. At some point he saw something in Appellant's hand that looked like the tip of a pair of scissors or something. 2 AA 317. Mr. Malone looked over his shoulder to see if there was anything he would trip over if he had to back up and then his hand was sliced and he started bleeding profusely. 2 AA 316-318. Mr. Malone stated that once Appellant was in the room it was about 30 seconds before he stabbed him. 2 AA 340-341. He stated the Ms. Douglas grabbed a towel from the bathroom and gave it to him to compress the wound, and Appellant walked away

over to the end of the parking lot and sat down on a log. Ms. Douglas then called 911. 2 AA 318-319. When the officers arrived Mr. Malone told them to take care of Appellant, and that he was not going to do anything. 2 AA 320. Mr. Malone then testified as to the extent of his injuries, that his nerves and an artery were cut, his need to have surgery, and the residual effects of the injury which have affected his ability to write, his work, and day to day activities. 2 AA 326-334.

## 4. Testimony of Police Officer Kevin Grimes

On April 16, 2020, Officer Grimes was a Police Officer with the Fallon Police Department. 4 AA 438. Officer Grimes testified that when he arrived Appellant was standing outside of the hotel room and was then asked by Officer Groom to sit on a log near the room. 4 AA 440. Appellant was detained, placed in handcuffs, and was cooperative. 4 AA 445, 509. He stated Appellant was making excited utterance and calling out for someone named Corey, for Corey to get up, that we are going to be okay, and he appeared to be cooperative. 4 AA 445, 507. Appellant had involuntary movements of his hands (twitching his hands) which was indicative of someone on a stimulant and he appeared to be under the influence of a controlled substance. 4 AA 445, 507. Ultimately the decision was made to place Appellant under arrest. 4 AA 444, 445. Officer Grimes stated that, due to COVID precautions, he placed a face mask on Appellant but because they were easy to pull down over the face he placed a spit hood over the mask to hold it in place; at that time Appellant

was calm and cooperative. 4 AA 446, 511. Officer Grimes described the spit hood as the same thing as the paper masks but that it goes all the way about the head, with a mesh portion on top so you can still see, and it prevents body fluid from being ejected from the mouth. 4 AA 447. Appellant was still sitting on the log when the spit hood was placed on his face and was calm and fairly cooperative. 4 AA 446. With Officer Grimes directing Appellant's movement, the officers stood him on his feet and as they were getting ready to walk him to their car he started twisting away and trying to get free from their grip so he and Officer Shine took him down to the dirt ground, flat on his stomach. 4 AA 447, 453, 454, 455, 512, 513. He continued to thrash his body around and kick his legs. 4 AA 455. He calmed down and Officer Grimes and Officer Shien went down to the ground to pick him back up again; they were able to stand him back up but he started kicking his legs again so he and Officer Shine took him to the ground a second time. 4 AA 455, 512. He and Officer Shine were still on either side of him and Officer Groom and Officer Uglaki were behind him. 4 AA 453, 456, 514. They were eventually able to carry him to the car.<sup>5</sup> 4 AA 456. Afterwards, Officer Groom noticed a foot print on Officer Grimes' pants. 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The body cam, Exhibit 28 admitted at trial, indicates the officers carried Appellant's upper and lower body by holding onto his arms and legs, such that his upper body was facing the ground; it appeared he was then moved somewhat upright in order to place him into the vehicle. The body cam video did not show Officer Grimes being kicked in the leg by Appellant.

AA 514. Prior to that time Officer Grimes was not aware of being kicked. 4 AA 514-515. Officer Grimes looked at his uniform and saw a shoe imprint, made with dust, on his left leg on the inside of the shin area, but he did not feel anything when the shoe impression was made. 4 AA 456-457, 514. When he inspected his body there were no scratches, bruises, or marks on his leg. 4 AA 457, 458, 515 He stated he did not recall the specific moment in time when he was kicked. 4 AA 468, 516. He testified he believed he had been kicked by Appellant because of the angle of the footprint on his pants and the tread of the shoeprint as compared to Appellant's shoe. 4 AA 458-460.

When they took Appellant to the hospital Officer Grimes requested a mental health hold on Appellant due to the signs of impairment he was exhibiting. 4 AA 516. Although Officer Grimes was aware that Appellant was under the influence of a controlled substance, Officer Grimes did not request any type of drug test when Appellant was taken to the hospital. 4 AA 516-517.

Officer Grimes also testified as to the Budget Inn's surveillance video of Room 132 observing that Appellant kicked in the door of the room. 4 AA 448.

5. Testimony of Detective Sergeant John Frandsen.

Detective Frandsen with the Fallon Police Department self-responded to the Budget Inn on April 16, 2020 when he heard the call of a stabbing at the Budget Inn and that it involved Appellant. 4 AA 528-529. Detective Frandsen generally testified as to evidence taken at the scene. He also testified as to the Budget Inn video surveillance in which he observed Appellant striking the window of Room 132 with a knife and kicking in the door, entering the room for approximately 15 seconds, and then exiting and walking towards Room 135. 4 AA 563-567.

Officer Frandsen testified that when he arrived Appellant was in handcuffs, sitting on the ground and being relatively cooperative and not combative, but was verbal but not verbally abusive to the officers. 4 AA 596-697. Officer Frandsen testified that during the struggle to get Appellant into the patrol car one of his shoes

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Insufficient evidence existed to convict Appellant on Counts 1 and 3; Burglary with Possession of a Firearm and Battery by a Prisoner in Lawful Custody or Confinement. Therefore, Appellant's conviction on Counts 1 and 3 should be reversed. In addition, Appellant's aggregate sentence of 12 years 8 months to 33 years 4 months is unreasonably disproportionate to the offenses committed; the sentence shocks the conscious and is unduly harsh under the circumstance of the case. Such cruel and unusual punishment, in violation of Appellant's constitutional rights, warrants that this case be remanded to the district court for a new sentencing hearing.

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

## A. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT APPELLANT'S CONVICTION OF COUNTY ONE OF THE

## AMENDED INFORMATION – BURGLARY WITH POSSESSION OF A DEADLY WEAPON.

#### **1.** Legal Authorities

Evidence is sufficient if, after viewing the evidence in light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Thompson v. State*, 125 Nev. 807, 816, 221 P.3d 708, 715 (2009). The verdict of a jury will not be overturned when substantial evidence exists to support it, and even circumstantial evidence alone can sustain a conviction. *Id.; Deveroux v. State*, 96 Nev. 388, 391, 610 P.2d 722, 724 (1980). Substantial evidence is evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. *Thompson*, 125 Nev. at 816, 221 P.3d at 715. It is for the jury to determine the degree of weight and credibility to give to witness testimony and other trial evidence. *Bolden v. State*, 97 Nev. 71, 73, 624 P.2d 20, (1981). If there is truly insufficient evidence a defendant must be acquitted. *State v. Purcell*, 110 Nev. 1389, 1396, 887 P.2d 276, 279 (1994).

#### 2. Argument

NRS 205.060 requires that a person entering a dwelling have the requisite specific intent to commit an offense, including battery. Specific intent can rarely be proven by a defendant's direct state of mind, but can be inferred from the individualized, external circumstances of the crime. *Hernandez v. State,* 118 Nev. 513, 531, 50 P.3d 1100, 1112 (2002).

There was not substantial evidence for a reasonable jury to infer, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Appellant entered Room 135 with the specific intent to cut Mr. Malone. From the onset of Appellant's appearance in the field near the Budget Inn and then at the Budget Inn, the substantial evidence shows that Appellant was looking for his girlfriend, Corey. Appellant was in a significantly impaired and agitated state, and, as observed by trained law enforcement, on a controlled substance, perhaps a stimulant. Appellant's mental condition was serious enough for Officer Grimes to request a mental health hold when he took Appellant to the hospital. During his impaired and agitated state of mind he was continually calling and looking for Corey; he first walked by Room 135 and stood in the open doorway asking for her and looking into the room believing she was there. When Mr. Malone said "not here, dude" he continued to Room 132 and kicked in the door - not for the purpose of stealing anything but clearly looking for someone as he was in and out of Room 132 in 15 seconds. When he returned to Room 138 and stepped in, still in an intoxicated and agitated state, he was still looking and calling for Corey and had a conversation with Mr. Malone that lasted several minutes, according to Ms. Douglas.

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