IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CASEY ALAN JOHNS,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed May 02 2022 12:51 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 83064

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

On Direct Appeal from Judgment of Conviction After Jury Verdict in Case Number 20-10DC-0552 from the Tenth Judicial District Court, Churchill County, State of Nevada, by the Honorable Thomas L. Stockard, District Judge

Priscilla Baker
Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar No. 13449
Churchill County District Attorney
165 North Ada Street
Fallon, NV 89406
(775)423-6561
Attorney for Respondent

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

After being presented sufficient evidence at trial, the jury found Appellant guilty of Count 1 and 3. Therefore, the Court should affirm the convictions. Additionally, the district court lawfully used its discretion and sentenced Appellant within the statutory guidelines for the violent crimes committed three days after being released on his own recognizance. Therefore, the Court should affirm the sentence imposed.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a criminal case, the standard of review is "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *McNair v. State*, 108 Nev. 53, 56, 825 P.2d 571, 573 (*quoting Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979); *Koza v. State*, 100 Nev. 245, 250, 681 P.2d 44, 47 (1984)) (emphasis in original). The jury's function is to assess the weight of the evidence and determine the credibility of witnesses. *Id.* (*citing Walker v. State*, 91 Nev. 724, 726, 542 P.2d 438, 438-39 (1975)). Thus, if there

is substantial evidence to support a guilty verdict, the reviewing court will not disturb the conviction. *Id.* (*citing Nix v. State*, 91 Nev. 613, 614, 541 P.2d 1, 2 (1975); *Sanders v. State*, 90 Nev. 433, 434, 529 P.2d 206. 207 (1997)).

Additionally, district courts are given wide discretion when imposing a sentence on a defendant. *Parrish v. State*, 116 Nev. 982, 988–89, 12 P.3d 953, 957 (2000) (noting that "judges spend much of their professional lives separating the wheat from the chaff and have extensive experience in sentencing, along with the legal training necessary to determine an appropriate sentence"). An appellate court will not disturb a sentence imposed by a trial judge absence a showing of an abuse of discretion. *Id.* 116 Nev. at 89, 12 P.3d at 957.

VI. ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

A. There was Sufficient Evidence to Support Appellant's Conviction of Count 1 of the Amended Information, Burglary with Possession of a Firearm or Deadly Weapon, in violation of NRS 205.060.

The jury found Appellant guilty of Burglary with Possession of a Firearm or Deadly Weapon after hearing the evidence presented by the State, showing that Appellant by day or night, entered any house or room with the intent to commit grand or petit larceny, assault or battery on any person or any felony, or to obtain money or property by false pretenses, who had in his possession or gained possession of any firearm or deadly weapon at any time during the commission of the crime, at any time before leaving the structure or upon leaving the structure. NRS 205.060(1), 205.060(4) (2017).

Burglary is a specific intent crime. *Bolden v. State*, 121, Nev. 908, 915-16, 214 P.3d 196 (2005). NRS 193.200 provides that intent "is manifested by the circumstances connected with the perpetration of the offense, and the sound mind and discretion of the person accused." "These provisions implicitly acknowledge that intent can rarely be proven by direct evidence of a defendant's

state of mind, but instead is inferred by the jury from the individualized, external circumstances of the crime, which are capable of proof at trial." *Sharma v. State*, 118 Nev. 648, 659, 56 P.3d 868, 874 (2002). "As in any other case where the intent is material, the intent need not be proved by positive or direct evidence, but may be inferred from the conduct of the parties and the other facts and circumstances disclosed by the evidence." *Moore v. State*, 122 Nev. 27, 36, 126 P.3d 508, 513 (2006) (finding that a defendant behavior of selecting items "without . . . rhyme or reason" was consistent with fraudulent use of a credit card, and concluding that this circumstantial evidence was sufficient for the jury to determine intent existed to commit the crime of burglary).

The jury heard evidence of Appellants actions on April 16, 2020. Appellant had in his hand, a folding pocketknife, with the blade out and ready for use. 2 AA 317:4-23; 4 AA 564:1-2, 566:3-7. After being told by Malone, "not here, Dude" to prevent him from entering room 135, and Malone redirecting him onward, Appellant proceeded to room 132. 2 AA 311:2-8; 4 AA 563:8-24, 5645:1-2. Appellant then used his extended pocketknife to hit the window, causing him to bleed from his hand. 4 AA 566:14-21; 4 AA 564:1-2. Appellant then proceeded to forcibly kick in the door to room 132. 4 AA 565:17-24, 566:1. Appellant returned to room 135 even after being told by Malone he was not welcome there just moments before. 2 AA 312:13-19. Appellant entered room 135 with his pocketknife still extended and ready for use. After being told to leave by Douglas, Appellant ignored the request and called for "Corey". 2 AA 278: 12-13, 2 AA 278:14-16. Not taking no for an answer, Appellant sliced Malone's hand across the palm. 2 AA 317:4-23. If "Corey" was there, she could have come out. Based on Appellants actions when entering room 135, Douglas went on guard, grabbing her knife, and Malone prepared for things to get physical. 2 AA 277:16-20, 2 AA 316:19-24, 317:1. Appellant then threated Douglas to let Corey out or he would slit her throat. 2 AA 284:1-24,

1 /

285:5-9, 297:3-7. It is undisputed that Appellant's pocketknife was considered a deadly weapon.

Appellant was on a mission with a knife out and ready to go; nothing stood in his way. Appellant threatened Douglas if she did not let "Corey" out that he would cut her throat. After Malone blocked the way from Appellant entering the room, Appellant responded with slicing Malone's hand. Based on Appellant's actions kicking in the door at the other room, threats, and his actions within the room, this demonstrated Appellant's violent intentions, which was heard by the jury.

NRS 193.220 states that if someone is voluntarily intoxicated, that person's action shall not be deemed less criminal; however, "the actual existence of any particular purpose, motive or intent is a necessary element to constitute a particular species or degree of crime, the fact of the person's intoxication may be taken into consideration in determining the purpose, motive or intent." In *Nevius v. State*, 101 Nev. 238, 249, 669 P.2d 1053, 1060 (1985), this Court held "for a defendant to obtain an instruction on voluntary intoxication as negating specific intent, the evidence must show not only the defendant's consumption of intoxicants, but also the intoxicating effect of the substances imbibed and the resultant effect on the mental state pertinent to the proceedings." Although Officer Grimes testified that Appellant may have been on a stimulant, Appellant was "very coherent" and was able to provide hospital staff answers to their questions and indicated his refusal to receive a shot. 3 AA 445:9-17; 4 AA 517:11-24, 518:1-6.

The jury reviewed all the evidence, considered all the events that took place on April 16, 2020, evaluated Appellant's actions, and determined the credibility of the witnesses. Based on the totality of circumstances, the jury found Appellant had the intent to commit assault, battery, or a felony when he entered room 135 due to the substantial evidence presented.

Therefore, the Court should affirm the conviction as there was sufficient evidence to support conviction of the Burglary with Possession of a Firearm or Deadly Weapon.

B. There was Sufficient Evidence to Support Appellant's Conviction of Count 3 of the Amended Information, Battery by a Prisoner in Lawful Custody or Confinement, in violation of NRS 200.481(2)(F).

The jury found Appellant guilty of Battery by a Prisoner in Lawful Custody or Confinement after hearing the evidence presented by the State, showing Appellant willfully and unlawfully used force or violence upon the person of another. It is undisputed that Appellant was in lawful custody at the time of the battery. "[O]nly a slight unprivileged touching is needed to satisfy the force requirement of a criminal battery." *Hobbs v. State*, 127 Nev. 234, 237-39, 251 P.3d 177, 179-80 (2011) (holding that spitting on another person constitutes the use of force or violence necessary to support a conviction for battery). Any force against another person is enough to constitute a battery. *Id.* The touching "need not be violent or severe, it need not cause bodily harm or even pain, and it need not leave any mark. *Id.* at 238-39, 251 P.3d at 179.

The jury heard evidence of Appellants actions on April 16, 2020, when he was taken into custody. After notifying Appellant of his arrest, officers attempted to stand Appellant up to escort him to the patrol vehicle. 3 AA 447:11-13, 454:19-23, 455:14-24, 456:1-8. Thereafter, Appellant kicked his feet and twisting his body to resist being escorted to the patrol vehicle. 3 AA 447:11-13, 454:19-23, 455:14-24, 456:1-8. Appellant ended up kicking Grimes in the left shin, leaving a shoe imprint on the officer's pants. 3 AA 456:12-17. Although Grimes did not feel the exact kick when it occurred, Grimes testified that he felt contact all over because he was wrestling with Appellant. 4 AA 515:14-24, 516:1-3. Officers have a lot on their minds when a prisoner starts to resist. The Jury reviewed the photographs of Appellant's shoe tread and Grimes'

4

5

6 7

8

10

24

25

26

27

28

pant leg with the similar shoe impression. The jury considered and evaluated how much force would be needed to make such a shoe impression on Grimes' pant leg. There was no need under the law for Grimes to have a mark on his leg or an injury. *Hobbs v. State*, 127 Nev. at 237-39, 251 P.3d at 179-80.

Appellant argues that "[g]iven the struggle, Appellant's foot could have easily, and accidently and inadvertently, come into contact with Officer Grimes . . ." Opening Brief, Pages 16-17. The jury reviewed the "dusty footprint" on Grimes' pant leg. It was not smeared but a clear shoe print similar to Appellant's shoe tread. Further, to make such a print, some force was needed to create the shoe print.

Additionally, prior to trial, the State filed a Motion in Limine to Admit Prior Bad Acts. 1 RA 001. The motion requested that if Appellant claimed mistake, the State would be able to introduce a Judgment of Conviction in the Tenth Judicial District Court Case Number 16-10DC-1158. 1 RA 004. In that case, Appellant was resisting when officers were trying to get him into a hospital bed, resulting in an ER nurse being kicked. Id. The district court found clear and convincing evidence of this prior bad act but denied the State's Motion as premature. 1 RA 016. However, the district court ruled that if Appellant raises the issue that the battery was a mistake, the State could re-new its Motion. Id. Appellant did not raise the issue of mistake during trial, for strategic reasons. Because the issue of mistake was not raised in the trial court for strategic reasons as Appellants prior bad act would likely be introduced, it should not be considered in this appeal. See Rubio v. State, 124 Nev. 1032,1034, n. 5, 194 P.3d 1224, 1226, n. 5 (2008) (declining to consider an issue that was not properly raised in the district court from an order denying post-conviction motion to withdraw a guilty plea); see also Warren v. State, 121 Nev. 886, 892 124 P.3d 522, 526 (2005) (holding that if "an affirmative defense is not raised in the district court, argument pertaining to that defense is waived on appeal.").

Although mistake is not an affirmative defense, the State argues that it is unfair to raise this argument for the first time on appeal without the trier of fact considering the prior bad act in relation to the kick being a mistake or accident.

Regardless, the jury reviewed all the evidence, considered all the events that took place on April 16, 2020, evaluated Appellant's actions, and determined the credibility of the witnesses. Based on their review, the jury found Appellant guilty of Battery by a Prisoner in Lawful Custody or Confinement.

Therefore, the Court should affirm the conviction as there was sufficient evidence to support the conviction of Battery by a Prisoner in Lawful Custody or Confinement.

C. <u>The District Court Imposed a Lawful Sentence Under the Statutory Guidelines.</u>

The district court has broad discretion in its decision regarding sentencing. *Dunham v. State*, 134 Nev. 563, 569, 426 P.3d 11, (2018). "A sentence within the statutory limits is not 'cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute fixing punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience." *Blume v. State*, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d 282, 284 (1996) (*quoting Culverson v. State*, 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221-22 (1079)). This court has ruled that it will not interfere with a sentence imposed if "'the record does not demonstrate prejudice resulting from consideration of information or accusations founded on facts supported only by impalpable or highly suspect evidence." *Chavez v. State*, 125 Nev. 328, 348, 213 P.3d 476, 490 (2009) (*quoting Silks v. State*, 92 Nev. 91, 94, 545 P.2d 1159, 1161 (1976)).

It is undisputed that the sentence imposed for each of the crimes is within the statutory scheme. Appellant only argues that there are mitigating circumstances to consider. Opening Brief, pages 18-19. The State argues that the court considered the mitigating circumstances and considered the arguments

at sentencing by the State. On April 13, 2020, Appellant was released on his own recognizance in the Tenth Judicial District Court Case Number 20-10DC-0186, facing an Attempted Burglary charge. 5 AA 762:2-6, 764:5-9. Three days later, Appellant committed these violent crimes. 5 AA 763:4-7. Although Appellant may have been on a controlled substance, Appellant was coherent and committed these violent crimes, with multiple victims. Although the occupant of room 132 was not inside the room, she was victimized by someone breaking down the door and entering her hotel room. Douglas was scared and reacted by grabbing a knife for protection. Malone braced himself for a physical altercation and sustained a substantial injury, resulting in nerve damage that may be permanent. Another victim had her credit cards stolen. Finally, Grimes and the other officers and any spectators were put in danger based on Appellant's actions of resisting and kicking Grimes after being placed in custody. In reviewing Appellant's criminal history, the State pointed out that it got progressively violent. 5 AA 763:10-12.

The district court sentenced Appellant within the statutory guidelines. In considering the goals of sentencing: retribution, rehabilitation, deterrence, and incapacitation. The sentence imposed satisfies retribution as the various victims that were affected by Appellant's actions received justice. Deterrence is satisfied as both the public and Appellant are shown that there are consequences for these violent actions. Next, society is being protected or safeguarded due to Appellant's incapacitation. Finally, Appellant has the ability to be rehabilitated during the term of his sentence.

The sentence is not unreasonably disproportionate to the offenses as to shock the conscience based on the totality of the circumstances. Finally, the record does not demonstrate prejudice from the district court considering all of information provided to the court during the trial or at sentencing.

Therefore, the Court should affirm the conviction because it is undisputed that the sentence imposed for each of the crimes is within the statutory scheme and because the sentence is not unreasonably disproportionate to the offenses as to shock the conscience.

VII. CONCLUSION

The jury found Appellant guilty of Burglary with Possession of a Firearm or Deadly Weapon and Battery by a Prisoner in Lawful Custody or Confinement after considering the substantial evidence to support these convictions.

Therefore, the Court should not disturb but affirm the convictions. Finally, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it sentenced Appellant within the statutory guidelines. Based on Appellant's criminal history, the violence of the crimes, the number of victims, and being released three days before on his own recognizance before committing these crimes, the district court did not abuse its discretion. Therefore, the Court should not disturb but affirm the convictions.